Destination adaptation in the Mont Blac area

Is the tourism system adapting to climate change?

Alice Rebecca Lupano

Master Thesis Series in Environmental Studies and Sustainability Science, No 2024:018

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements of Lund University International Master's Programme in Environmental Studies and Sustainability Science (30hp/credits)







Destination adaptation in the Mont Blanc area

Is the tourism system adapting to climate change?

Alice Rebecca Lupano

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements of Lund University International Master's Programme in Environmental Studies and Sustainability Science

Submitted May 11th, 2024

Supervisors: Sinem Kavak and Ronald Byaruhanga, LUCSUS, Lund University

[This page is intentionally left blank]

Abstract

Mountain areas all around the world are extremely vulnerable to climate change. In Europe, local livelihoods are closely linked to tourism, which will not only be strongly affected by climate change, but will also contribute to these changes. Based on twenty-three interviews, this thesis uses Actor Network Theory to define the tourism system and to analyze destination adaptation in the Mont Blanc area (Western Italian Alps). The findings show a strong interest in adaptation, especially through deseasonalisation, diversification and communication. However, actors from hotels and bars have conflicting views on deseasonalisation, while municipalities and ski resorts have little interest in diversification and focus only on short-term strategies such as snowmaking. Indeed, the lack of collaboration leads to exclusively individual actions and poor solutions for potential maladaptation. In conclusion, increased cooperation and communication are needed to ensure sustainable adaptation for tourism.

Keywords: Actor Network Theory, Maladaptation, Diversification, Deseasonalisation, Collaboration, Local livelihoods

Word count: 11.998

Acknowledgements

Writing this thesis has been an amazing yet challenging process, which was only possible with the help and support of some wonderful people. Firstly, I would like to thank my parents for always encouraging me and giving me the opportunity to study abroad and follow my passions. A special thanks goes to my brother for always having my back and to Stella for the emotional support. I am also extremely grateful to my Nonne for always supporting me and being there for me. My family has also played a crucial role in my fieldwork, as I owe them the close relationship I have with the case study and the opportunity to immerse myself in the local culture over the years. In this regard, a special thanks goes to all the people from the Aosta Valley who have helped me during my fieldwork and made me feel at home for the months I spent there. I am also really grateful to my supervisors and thesis group for the precious guidance and feedback throughout this process. I would like to thank the awesome batch 26 for being the best community I could have hoped for in my two years in Sweden. Particularly, a special thanks goes to my study group for helping me through this academic year and making me feel like I really belonged here. I would also like to thank Lau for being the best Milanese friend to share this experience with. Finally, I am incredibly grateful to Federica, Martino and Valentina for always supporting me when we were all studying together in Milan and for continuing to do so from afar.

Table of Contents

| 1 Introduction1 |
|--|
| 1.1 Problem and research question1 |
| 2 Literature Review |
| 2.1 Climate change impact in the Aosta Valley3 |
| 2.2 Tourism adaptation5 |
| 2.2.1 Tourists adaptation in the Alps5 |
| 2.2.2 Destination adaptation in the Alps6 |
| 2.2.3 Tourism adaptation strategy in the Aosta Valley7 |
| 2.3 Research gap7 |
| 3 Theoretical Approach9 |
| 3.1 Post-structuralism9 |
| 3.2 Actor-Network Theory9 |
| 3.3 Application of theories10 |
| 3.4 Destination adaptation11 |
| 4 Methodology12 |
| 4.1 Design and strategy12 |
| 4.1.1 Case study12 |
| 4.2 Data collection13 |
| 4.2.1 Participants selection14 |
| 4.2.2 Interview setting and questions14 |

| 4.3 Analysis and use of ANT15 |
|--|
| 4.4 Positionality and ethical considerations16 |
| 5 Findings 17 |
| 5.1 Current system – RQ1 17 |
| 5.2 System ordering – RQ2 20 |
| 5.2.1 Problematization21 |
| 5.2.2 Interessement23 |
| Deseasonalisation23 |
| Diversification25 |
| Communication26 |
| 5.2.3 Enrollment and Mobilization28 |
| 6 Discussion |
| 6.1 Relevance for Sustainability Science31 |
| 6.2 Limitations |
| 7 Conclusions |
| 8 References |
| 9 Appendices |

1 Introduction

According to the second chapter of the IPCC Special Report "The Ocean and Cryosphere in a Changing Climate", high mountain areas around the world are extremely vulnerable to climate change (Hock et al., 2021). In fact, surface air temperature in these areas is warming faster than the global average, affecting the cryosphere and consequently water resources (Hock et al., 2021). These changes will impact water availability and increase conflicts over water use between different sectors, such as agriculture, civil use, hydropower, industrial use, and tourism (Hock et al., 2021). In addition, changes in the occurrence of landslides, avalanches, and floods will raise safety concerns (Hock et al., 2021). In high mountain ecosystems, species composition and abundance are already shifting, and these trends will continue to alter future ecosystem services (Hock et al., 2021). Finally, the cryosphere provides aesthetic, cultural, and recreational services that are essential to local livelihoods and tourism (Hock et al., 2021). Winter activities in high mountain areas, such as skiing, have already been negatively affected by reduced snow cover, while safety and seasonality of summer activities, such as glacier tourism and mountaineering, have already been altered by glacier retreat and permafrost thaw (Hock et al., 2021). These shifts in the environmental conditions that currently define winter and summer tourism will have a major impact on alpine economies: in Europe, under a 2°C scenario and compared to the period 1971-2000, annual economic losses for hotels are projected to be EUR 560 million (Hock et al., 2021).

1.1 Problem and research question

In 1991, the Alpine Convention was founded with the recognition that the European Alps are "one of the largest continuous unspoilt natural areas in Europe, which, with their outstanding unique and diverse natural habitat, culture and history, constitute an economic, cultural, recreational and living environment in the heart of Europe, shared by numerous peoples and countries" (Alpine Convention, n.d., p.54). Given the impact of climate change on the ecological function of the alpine region, the conservation and protection of this environment must be a priority (Alpine Convention, n.d.). As introduced above, climate change will also strongly affect the socio-economic functioning of local populations, particularly with respect to tourism. Indeed, the European Alps host the largest ski industry in the world and are highly dependent on tourism for their alpine economic development (Hock et al., 2021). Therefore, adaptation to climate change in this sector will be essential for local livelihood.

Nevertheless, while tourism is a necessary sector for local economies, it also has social and environmental impacts that should not be neglected. Since the 1950s, mass tourism has contributed

significantly to alpine economies, but this has quickly led to the problem of intensive development of the traditional alpine landscape and disparities with rural areas, raising the need for solutions and careful management of the tourism sector (Barker, 1982; Gios et al., 2006). Indeed, mass tourism is associated with high consumption and careless use of resources, leading to increased energy use, waste production and increased emissions, mainly from transportation and housing (Karim et al., 2023; Streimikiene et al., 2021; UNTWO and UNEP, 2008). Mass tourism is therefore associated with environmental degradation, disturbance of biodiversity and pollution (Karim et al., 2023). Finally, tourism affects the quality of life for locals by disturbing the socio-cultural equilibrium and creating problems of traffic and overcrowding (Martini et al., 2017; Karim et al., 2023; Streimikiene et al., 2021). Taking into account these social and environmental impacts and the importance of natural resources for the attractiveness of tourism itself, it is crucial to study how tourist destinations are adapting to climate change and how they are managing the risks of potential maladaptation (Alpine Convention, 2005; Gios et al., 2006).

The alpine arch is characterized by a high degree of natural, economic and cultural diversity, which means that each destination will have different challenges and development opportunities (Alpine Convention, 2005). Therefore, in order to thoroughly examine the possible adaptation pathways, this thesis will focus on a specific case study: the Mont Blanc massif, which is the highest peak in the European Alps and a major tourist destination (VdA, 2014). This thesis will use Actor-Network Theory to study tourism destination adaptation in the Italian side of the Mont Blanc massif and to answer the following overarching research question:

How is the tourism system in the Mont Blanc area responding to the impacts of climate change?

That will be divided into the following specific research questions:

- 1. How is the current system shaped, by what relations and by which actors?
- 2. How is the tourism system adapting to climate change?

2 Literature Review

In order to better assess local perceptions of climate change, this section analyzes existing literature on its impacts in the Aosta Valley: the Italian region that hosts the Mont Blanc. In addition, literature on tourism adaptation specific to Alpine regions is reviewed from the perspective of tourists and destinations to understand similarities and differences with similar tourism settings. Particular attention is given to which actors are usually present and how they relate to each other. Finally, the current adaptation measures in place in the Aosta Valley are described, as they represent the framework of institutional objectives.

Relevant literature was searched in Google Scholar, Scopus and Web of Science using the following strings: "climate change" AND "Aosta Valley"; "climate change" AND "Mont Blanc"; "tourism" AND "adaptation"; "climate change" AND "perceptions" AND "Alps"; "tourism" AND "adaptation" AND "Alps"; "tourism" AND "Mont Blanc". Google Scholar was mainly used to access books, grey literature and to understand the research context before selecting more precise keywords. Moreover, the official website of the Aosta Valley was used to reach the relevant adaptation documents. Once the articles were selected on the basis of title and abstract, some additions were made by looking at references and relevant authors. The articles were then summarized in a document and classified by type of literature and topic to allow for easy analysis of the content.

2.1 Climate change impact in the Aosta Valley

One of the most studied aspects of climate change is glacier retreat. According to the latest glaciological report, 98% of the measured glaciers are currently retreating with a record mass loss documented in 2022 [Figure 1] (Baroni et al., 2023). This is mainly attributed to changes in accumulation and ablation processes caused by decreasing snowfall in winter and extremely high temperatures in summers (Calmanti et al., 2007; Baroni et al., 2023). Glacier variation due to climate change has been present throughout history, demonstrating the strong link between temperature and precipitation on glacier mass [Figure 2] (Cerutti, 1985; Sacco, 1934). Moreover, especially during hot summers, the increasing amount of water that flows through and under glaciers, potentially causes ice to suddenly detach and fall down the slope (Chiarle et al., 2021). A clear example of this is the Planpincieux glacier in the Mont Blanc area, which is constantly monitored for its risk of falling toward the highly touristic Val Ferret (Chiarle et al., 2021). Finally, the lowering of glacier surfaces and thawing of permafrost reduces the stability of rocks surrounding glaciers, leading to increased rockfall and erosion (Baroni et al., 2023; Bollati et al., 2019; Courtial-Manent et al., 2024).

Other factors that contribute to rock falling in different seasons are morphological conditions, elevated temperatures, alternation of the freeze-thaw cycle, and water from precipitation infiltrating the rocks (Frasca et al., 2020; Palomba et al., 2015; Savi et al., 2021; Bajni et al., 2021). Rockfall is a major concern, especially in the vicinity of inhabited areas, as it causes damage to both people and infrastructure (Cignetti et al., 2021).



Figure 1. Testa di Paramont Glacier 1960-2022

These pictures taken from Barone et al. (2022) show an example of glacier mass loss in the Mont Blanc area. This glacier is now considered extinct while it was still well developed in the 1960s.



Figure 2. Mont Blanc glacier variation

This graph is taken from Sacco (1934) and it represents how glacier mass variation in the Mont Blanc massif since the 1560s have been studied in the previous century. The accuracy and lack of units of measurement of the graph are a clear limitation, but it comes to show the importance of this topic for the region in the past.

Climate change also impacts the hydrological cycle. In particular, while annual precipitation is not expected to vary, the seasonality will change significantly (ARPA VdA, 2021). Winter and autumn will be characterized by higher water precipitation with decreasing snowfall, increasing the need of reorganization of ski supply in the region (ARPA VdA, 2021; Joly and Ungureanu, 2018). On the other hand, summer and spring precipitation is expected to decrease with strong impacts on water availability and, as a consequence, on hydropower plants, especially those without reservoirs, which are the main source of energy in the region (VdA, 2023c; Maran et al., 2014; ARPA VdA, 2021).

Hydropower water demand during the summer months will also be affected by alternative water uses, resulting in potential conflicts between sectors (Maran et al., 2014).

Finally, increased temperatures affect the season for vegetation growth, which is becoming longer (Orusa and Mondino, 2021). However, there is evidence of increased evapotranspiration from vegetation and increased water demand, which can be problematic during the summer months (Orusa and Mondino, 2021). These shifts have implications for agriculture, both positively and negatively due to limited water availability (VdA, 2021b). Changes in temperature also affect mountain species composition and tree line altitude (Vacchiano and Motta, 2015).

2.2 Tourism adaptation

As explained above, climate change affects a wide range of environmental variables essential to tourism, including shifts in seasonality, landscape, weather, water availability, and increased hazards (UNWTO and UNEP, 2008). These impacts may be positive or negative depending on the destination, but the vulnerability of winter sports and glacier tourism destinations is well established (UNWTO and UNEP, 2008). It is therefore crucial to study how the tourism sector adapts to climate change, both from the perspective of tourists and destinations, as divided in the literature (UNWTO and UNEP, 2008). The concept of destination adaptation and adaptive capacity are explained in the theoretical approach section.

2.2.1 Tourists adaptation in the Alps

Tourists are considered to have the highest adaptive capacity in the tourism sector as they can easily change their plans, location and activities (Kaján and Saarinen, 2013). However, the way in which they adapt can vary from one tourist to another, and, therefore, tourists are often classified according to different variables in the literature. For example, recreational alpinists with higher climate change awareness are more likely to change their behavior because they understand the increased hazards of certain routes (Salim et al., 2023). However, certain behaviors, such as risk-taking, are also influenced by skill level of mountain tourists (Pröbstl-Haider et al., 2016). In terms of weather, relaxation- and activity-oriented tourists benefit more from increased sunny days compared to nature-oriented ones (Pröbstl-Haider et al., 2015), and experience-driven tourists are more resilient to reduced snow than leisure driven ones (Cocolas et al., 2016). Finally, glacier retreat, nature degradation, lack of snow, and some adaptation strategies, such as snowmaking, negatively affect landscape attractiveness (Salim et al., 2021a). In winter sports-oriented destinations, snowmaking is usually accepted by tourists as a way

to increase snow reliability (Pütz et al., 2011), however, it may be counterproductive if enjoyment of the natural environment is also an important tourism feature (Bausch et al., 2019).

2.2.2 Destination adaptation in the Alps

Destinations have the least adaptive capacity due to their static character, therefore, it is essential to understand whether they are willing to adapt to climate change and to the likely shift in tourism demand (Kaján and Saarinen, 2013). It is important to note that local perceptions of climate change are not only economic, but also highly emotional and linked to culture, identity, and well-being (Jurt et al., 2015; Whitaker, 2023). Compared to tourists, the local population is more aware of climate changes, although there is a common narrative of climate cycles, rejection of worst-case scenarios and tourist blame (Garavaglia et al., 2012; Jurt et al., 2015; Morrison et al., 2013). In general, even in cases where changes are evident, appropriation of the climatic phenomenon is often limited (Clivaz & Savioz, 2020).

The main concerns of the tourism industry are related to snow production and stability of infrastructure, while diversification does not seem to be a top priority (Morrison et al., 2013; Einhorn et al., 2015; Bausch and Gartner, 2020). Changes in the tourism sector are still not taking place, as stakeholders focus on maintaining the status quo and consider changes to be driven by demand rather than climate (Wyss et al., 2014; Hill et al., 2010; Abegg et al., 2008). Indeed, climate change is a low priority for some stakeholders and scientific reports are considered too dramatic (Behringer et al., 2000). Furthermore, ski area operators strongly believe in their capacity to adapt to changes, with a clear preference for short-term strategies such as snowmaking (Abegg et al., 2008). Adaptation takes place individually, for example through changes in the activities of stakeholders such as alpine guides, whose work is closely linked to environmental conditions (Salim et al., 2019; Mourey et al., 2020; Abegg et al., 2008). In this respect, there are some interesting cultural differences between France and Italy related to the client-guide relationship (one-day client vs. loyal client), which influences how easily guides can change a plan at the last minute (Salim et al., 2019).

Overall, the adaptation of tourism operators can be facilitated by increased cooperation and by sharing more and better information on the impacts of climate change (Matasci et al., 2014; Wyss et al., 2015; Salim et al., 2021b). It is also important to think long-term and proactively to prepare for the changes that will occur (Salim et al., 2021b; Salim et al., 2021c).

6

2.2.3 Tourism adaptation strategy in the Aosta Valley

The region currently has an adaptation strategy in place that is in line with the reference framework of the National Climate Change Adaptation Strategy (SNACC), but an actual plan with specific measures is yet to be approved (VdA, 2021b). The main objectives of this strategy are to minimize risks and focus on opportunities in agriculture and tourism (VdA, 2021b). In particular, as tourism is a key sector, the region relies heavily on the competitive advantage of its high-altitude ski resorts compared to other Italian regions (VdA, 2021b). In this context, snowmaking is considered a central strategy to ensure snow reliability, although conflicts over water use with other sectors are high (VdA, 2021b). Other measures proposed are the reorganization of the tourist offer through deseasonalisation and diversification through the search for new recreational sports (VdA, 2021b). The aim is to promote a mountain environment that is attractive all year round and that is not strictly linked to seasons (VdA, 2021b). However, the desired diversification partly contradicts the region's SMART specialization strategy, which still focuses on skiing and hiking as "star" products (VdA, 2021a).

Another key step in the strategy is to raise awareness and communicate risks and impacts to both tourists and the local population (VdA, 2021b). It is essential that tourism operators are made aware of the risks, impacts and opportunities related to climate change and that their role as an adaptation and education vector for tourists is valorized (VdA, 2021b). In this context, a better interaction and collaboration between different tourism resources is needed to increase the attractiveness of the destination and to compensate for possible losses (VdA, 2021b). With regard to the Mont Blanc area, this sense of collaboration is highlighted by the Espace Mont-Blanc, a cooperation between Italy, France and Switzerland, based on the sharing of experiences to manage responses to climate change in a unified way (Espace Mont-Blanc, 2013). Specific to tourism, the focus of the cooperation is on managing flows and resources, increasing mobilization and accessibility, and promoting local culture and products, which is in line with the strategy of the Aosta Valley (Espace Mont Blanc, 2013).

2.3 Research gap

As presented above, most of the current literature focuses only on specific actors in the tourism sector, particularly in relation to the ski industry, and a multi-perspective approach is still developing. Overall, there is a clear distinction and little integration between natural and social sciences, which raises the problem of how different actors are integrated at a system level. For example, the Mont Blanc area has been extensively studied from a natural science perspective, but a social science approach is still underdeveloped. Finally, most of the case studies presented are from the Swiss, Austrian and French Alps, which represent different socio-economic environments compared to the Italian Alps. This thesis

will contribute to the current literature by applying a network perspective to Italian alpine regions in order to understand how different actors relate to each other and how the tourism system is adapting to climate change. By using Actor Network Theory, a multi-perspective approach will be applied, which will allow the inclusion of non-human actors. Finally, tourists may be included as actors in the system, but the focus will be on understanding how the destination is shaped and adapts to the problem of climate change.

3 Theoretical Approach

3.1 Post-structuralism

Post-structuralism emerged as a critique of structuralism's use of centers, binary oppositions, and the creation of truth regimes (Woodward et al., 2009). One of the main aspects of this approach is the rejection of a priori knowledge and structures (Woodward et al., 2009). Indeed, post-structuralism argues that the real world is constructed through context and perceptions, and that "truth" is a product of power (Woodward et al., 2009). It is therefore important to understand the difference between the real and its social mediation: representations (Woodward et al., 2009).

One of the binary oppositions critiqued by post-structuralism is that between the social and the natural (Dujardin, 2020). In the context of climate change adaptation, the binary distinction between social change (adaptation) and natural change (climate change) is criticized as false and unhelpful (Dujardin, 2020). Rather, climate change should be considered as socio-natural, with the aim of highlighting the implications of actors' framing of climate change and treating adaptation as an internal process (Dujardin, 2020). As each discourse creates its own truths, a multi-perspective approach is essential to develop a common understanding of the problem (Dujardin, 2020). In addition, special emphasis should be placed on addressing the more than human relationships between individuals and structures (Dujardin, 2020).

3.2 Actor-Network Theory

Actor-Network Theory (ANT) is a social theory based on relationalism, which describes the world as a heterogeneous mix of relations and practices in which both humans and non-humans are considered actors (van der Duim et al., 2013). The way in which agency is defined for actors is through the ability to make a difference in the course of other actors' actions (Latour, 2005). Agency is thus dissociated from a sense of intentionality allowing non-human actors to be included in the network (Latour, 2005). Indeed, non-human actors obey their own rules and, through them, they become an integral part of the functioning of the network (Latour, 2005). In this sense, the behaviors and rhythms within a community are also dictated by non-human actors, even though humans ultimately enforce these rhythms (Robins, 2007).

Consistently with post-structuralism, ANT builds on the idea of multiplicity, or principle of generalized symmetry, as reality exists but it is only made possible through different networks and relations (van der Duim et al., 2013; Callon, 1984). Therefore, it is important to study the different realities in which our world is constructed (van der Duim et al., 2013). ANT follows the principle of free association,

according to which all a priori structures and distinctions between the social and the natural should be abandoned (Callon, 1984). Finally, according to the principle of agnosticism, there should be impartiality when interacting with different actors, as all perspectives are valid and play a crucial role in the network (Callon, 1984).

In the context of the tourism sector, the goal is then not to understand why things are done in a certain way, but how the system is constructed, how it works, and how it can fall apart (van der Duim et al., 2013). ANT builds on the concept of translation: the process by which actors share and "translate" meaning with each other according to four key moments shown in Table 1 (Deason et al., 2022, Callon, 1984).

| Moments | Definition |
|------------------|---|
| Problematization | Emergence of a problem that allows the translator to help overcome it |
| Interessement | Actors become interested in the problem |
| Enrollment | Roles are defined |
| Mobilization | Actors are enrolled and aware of their parts |

 Table 1. The four moments of translation

The definitions are taken from Deason et al. (2022) and they will be the guiding line throughout the paper.

The process through which the system uses translation to stabilize and reorganize itself, is called ordering, and ANT aims to discover the multiple orderings through which the world emerges (Deason et al., 2022; van der Duim et al., 2013). Indeed, no single translation plan prevails over the others and orderings are the resulting effect of this multiplicity (van der Duim et al., 2013).

3.3 Application of theories

In the context of this thesis, post-structuralism serves as a lens to examine adaptation as a socionatural phenomenon. Indeed, as explained above, the multiple framing of the actors of the problem of climate change can influence how adaptation can be developed. Moreover, the rejection of a priori knowledge is done by prioritizing the actors' point of view. From this follows the focus on multiple actor perceptions, which has been a main attribute of this thesis since the fieldwork. ANT will be used mainly for the analysis part of the thesis. Particular attention will be given to the definition of the current system and the inclusion of non-human actors. Subsequently, in order to follow the moments of translation, the ordering of the tourism system in the Mont Blanc area when adapting to climate change will be analyzed. The aim is to understand at which moment of ordering the tourism system is currently at and the perceptions of locals over different orderings. The specifics of the use of ANT through coding are described in the methodology section.

3.4 Destination adaptation

Adaptation is defined by the IPCC as "the process of adjusting to actual or expected climate and its effects, in order to moderate harm or exploit beneficial opportunities" (IPCC Glossary, n.d.). This leads to the concept of adaptive capacity, which is the ability to adapt to these changes (IPCC Glossary, n.d.). Destination adaptation focuses on how tourism destinations adapt to climate change, taking into account the limits of their adaptive capacity, mainly due to their static nature (Kaján and Saarinen, 2013). Indeed, compared to tourists who can easily change their behavior by traveling to a different place, destinations are spatially constrained and cannot suddenly change their attractiveness (Kaján and Saarinen, 2013). Other limiting factors for adaptation can be economic, technical, biological or social parameters (Kaján and Saarinen, 2013; Adger et al., 2009). For the scope of this thesis, the focus is mainly on social parameters such as ethics, knowledge, risk and culture (Adger et al., 2009). Indeed, when making decisions for future adaptation, stakeholders are influenced by knowledge of past climate, present situation and future predictions, so the way in which they understand climate change can directly influence how much they are willing to adapt (Asger et al., 2009).

Finally, it is important to introduce the concept of maladaptation which is defined by *"actions that may lead to increased risk of adverse climate-related outcomes"* (IPCC Glossary, n.d.). Maladaptation is a common unintended consequence of adaptation (IPCC Glossary, n.d.). In this sense, it is crucial to understand the potential for maladaptation and what efforts are being made by the destination to avoid maladaptation.

4 Methodology

4.1 Design and strategy

This thesis takes a qualitative design as it aims at making sense of climate change adaptation in the Alps (Alvesson and Sköldberg, 2018). By using this approach, I am able to focus on the opinions, perspectives, and behaviors of the subject under study in their natural setting and how they give meaning to the phenomenon (Alvesson and Sköldberg, 2018). The strategy for doing so is to focus on a specific case study, which is an effective method to answer "how" questions and analyze contemporary events (Yin, 2009). The choice of the Mont Blanc area as a case study is linked to the research problem and to the literature gap, while the context and geographical borders of the case are described below. The use of a case study within a limited geographic space allows me to uncover the richness of the social phenomenon and the complexity of the tourism system within its context (Yin, 2009). In fact, it facilitates the use of concrete illustrations and specificity in the analysis, while remaining at a manageable size, which is especially important given the temporal and spatial limitations of this work (Yin, 2009).

4.1.1 Case study

The Mont Blanc area [Figure 3], also known as Valdigne, is part of the autonomous region Aosta Valley (VdA)¹ and it includes five municipalities: Courmayeur, Morgex, La Salle, Pré-Saint-Didier and La Thuile (Unité des Communes valdôtaines VALDIGNE-MONT-BLANC, 2015).



Figure 3. Aosta Valley and Mont Blanc area

These images show where the Aosta Valley is located in Italy, and how it can be divided into different areas. The pictures are taken from Wikipedia (n.d.) and VdA (2014).

¹ For the sake of clarity, the term "area" will be used only for the Valdigne area, while the term "region" will refer to the whole Aosta Valley.

The Aosta Valley is the smallest and least populated Italian region with a total population of 123,130 while the Valdigne area has a population of 8,459 (ISTAT, 2024; VdA, 2021a). Tourism is the sector that brings the highest added value to the region and the Mont Blanc area hosts the highest number of tourists each year (VdA, 2021a; VdA, 2024). In 2023, a total of 368,727 tourists visited the area, almost forty-four times the number of residents (VdA, 2024). The region has a strong local identity, which is also reflected in its autonomy status (VdA, 2021a; VdA, 1948). Indeed, the region has two official languages (Italian and French) with a local culture that revolves around craftmanship (especially wood), food (especially wine and bovine derivates), traditional clothing, mountain sports (alpinism, skiing, climbing and hiking) and other local traditions like sports and festivities (VdA, 2023a). The region is characterized by an extremely mountainous landscape as it has an altitude ranging from 343m to 4810m with 60% of the region above 2000 m (VdA, 2021a). While the mountainous landscape and the widespread presence of glaciers are considered an important part of local identity, this morphology has a strong impact on services and accessibility, especially in the lateral valleys (Simaraglia, 2006; VdA, 2021a). Important historical changes in accessibility were brought about by the construction of the highway and the Mont Blanc Tunnel, which "opened" the valley and made it an important bridge to France and the rest of Europe (TMB, n.d.). This allowed more people to reach the region and contributed to the development of tourism (TMB, n.d.). Most of the tourists are Italian, although international tourisms is quickly growing especially after the COVID-19 pandemic which, due to mandatory closures of ski resorts, brought more attention towards summer and intermediate season (VdA, 2023b). Additionally, tourism is crucial for other sectors such as agriculture and craftmanship as it is the means to promote local products (Espace Mont Blanc, 2008).

4.2 Data collection

I used semi-structured interviews for data collection - 23 interviews were conducted with different actors of the local population from the 17th of January to the 26th of February 2024. Moreover, for one actor in the skiing industry it was not possible to organize an interview and therefore I relied on a written communication by e-mail that will be included to the limit of this form of data collection. The choice to include this different type of data is due to the importance of the ski industry for the case study. Finally, some secondary data was used to gain a more complete understanding of the case study. In particular, actors' websites and visits to museums, fairs and conferences were used to gather additional information and to understand how they are presented to visiting tourists. The information

from these data sources is included and evaluated in the analysis, within the limits of these different types of data.

4.2.1 Participants selection

In order to maintain an impartial approach to the process and incorporate multiple perspectives, participants were selected from a variety of areas and backgrounds. Given my familiarity with the case, this selection was initially made through personal connections with specific participants, and then the network was built through snowball sampling. Contrasting views were included by looking for potential different interests based on the type of job and the place where the participants lived. In addition, as I became familiar with the participants' relationships, the fame that some of them had in the system allowed me to broaden my sample and include other conflicting perspectives. The associations and businesses involved in the interview process and the specifics of the interviewees are described in Appendix A. In the case of workers in shops, bars, hotels and food producers, the specific business is not mentioned to ensure anonymity. The participants were not strictly divided into groups and were allowed to fluctuate between different macro-groups. By following this selection strategy, I was able to include in the process the relevant actors for tourism in the Mont Blanc area.

4.2.2 Interview setting and questions

The setting of the interviews was kept informal, and the meetings were conducted in Italian, either at the interviewee's workplace or at the local café where the local population primarily meets. The aim of this type of setting was to ensure clear communication with the interviewees, to provide a safe space and to be immersed in the local culture. Moreover, I relied on notes rather than recording the interviewees in order to respect the interviewees preferences and to avoid potential discomfort. The guiding questions were related to perceptions of changes in the system regarding climate change, adaptation, and relational shifts [Appendix B]. This allowed me to understand the history of the system and what the future might look like from the perspective of the local people. In addition, questions about identity and place attachment were included to understand the values and priorities of different actors. The questions asked were open-ended to allow respondents to describe the issue as they saw fit, and follow-up questions were asked to avoid misunderstanding and expand on the answers.

4.3 Analysis and use of ANT

The analysis of the data was done by applying ANT through the use of NVIVO coding. With this method, I was able to code all of the interviews and additional material collected during the fieldwork, partly deductively and partly inductively.

In particular, the deductive codes were divided between the two sub research questions [Figure 4] in order to work with a clear temporal distinction. Instead, the definition of the different Actors was done inductively following the framing done by the interviewees. Similarly, the definition of the different phases of Ordering was done inductively to better represent the interviewees' description of adaptation. This is essential to avoid using pre-existing grids and to follow the ANT principle of free association. The induced codes were then organized to find the most common themes [Figure 4]. Finally, I analyzed the interviews a second time to focus on the dynamics between the actors and on who said what. The goal of this process is to understand the differences and similarities between the actors' orderings of the same system. Indeed, multi-perspectivity is essential for ANT's principle of general symmetry. Special attention has been given to the explanation of non-human actors and how they are currently perceived, especially those that are essential in an adaptation perspective.

| DEDUCTIVE | INDUCTIVE | |
|------------------|----------------------------|-------------------|
| Current System | Current System | Ordering |
| Actors | <u>Actors</u> | Problematization |
| Relation | Sports providers | Glacier |
| Ordering | Nature | Flora and Fauna |
| Problematization | Governamental institutions | Snow |
| Interessement | Environmental associations | Seasonality |
| Enrollment | Hotels, bars, shops | Temperature |
| Mobilization | Journalists | Hazard and Safety |
| | Mont Blanc Tunnel | Water |
| | Social capital | Wind |
| | Tourists | Human Impact |
| | Food producers | Interessment |
| | QC terme | Deseasonalization |
| | Skyway | Diversification |
| | <u>Relation</u> | Communication |
| | | Fnrollment |

Figure 4. Deductive and Inductive Coding

This figure shows the deductive and inductive codes used in NVIVO. The inductive codes shown here are already organized and refined to avoid thematic redundancy and allow for a clear representation (Own illustration).

Collaboration Municipality *Mobilization*

4.4 Positionality and ethical considerations

Regarding ethical considerations, all interviewees were asked for consent and were informed about my role as a researcher, the treatment of data collected, and the withdrawal of consent. The questions asked did not cover particularly sensitive areas, and interviewees were informed in advance of the topics that would be covered. Moreover, during my fieldwork I tried to reflect my positionality as much as possible. In fact, while being Italian myself and being familiar with the place allowed me to understand specific dynamics, on the other hand it is important to be aware of my preconceptions about the problem. In particular, as a regular tourist in the area myself, I had to be aware of my past experiences with the tourism system and how they might influence my perception of it. To limit this bias, I tried to immerse myself as much as possible in the local culture and to remain open to their description of the system, even when different or negative points were raised. Moreover, my background and my role as a sustainability researcher pose possible threats of objectivity towards the interviewees' perceptions of climate change and adaptation. Therefore, I tried to keep the focus on their experiences and point of view, while avoiding expressing my personal opinion.

5 Findings

5.1 Current system – RQ1

The definition of the current system is a representation of the framing done by the interviewees and it displays the relevant actors and their relations. The interview quotes below are followed by the role of the interviewee in parentheses to provide more context on their perceptions.

Among the main actors included in the system are those that attract tourists, either tourism operators or non-human actors that serve as tourist attractions. In this respect, sports activities were the most frequently mentioned by all interviewees. In particular, downhill skiing is considered the leading activity for winter tourism, with alternatives still related to snow sports such as cross-country skiing, ski mountaineering, snowshoeing and ice climbing. Downhill skiing is usually operated by ski resorts which in the Valdigne area are present in Courmayeur and La Thuile, cross-country skiing is mainly practiced in Val Ferret where a track is operated every winter. Ski mountaineering, snowshoeing and ice climbing do not require a structure to be practiced and are usually services offered by alpine guides or the CAI (Italian Alpine Club). For summer tourism, the main activities are hiking, trail running, climbing, mountaineering, biking and moto trial. In this context, the Tour de Mont Blanc, which consists of a circular route around Mont Blanc, was highlighted by the interviewees. This activity is regulated by a network that allows participants to book accommodation and plan their route. For trail running, the main competitions take place in late summer/early autumn and are under the organizations of UTMB, TORX and Arrancabirra. Biking is mostly regulated by rental stores (especially for e-bikes) or done individually with Val Ferret and Val Veny as main destinations. Indoor climbing is offered by the Service Centre of Courmayeur (CSC), while rock climbing and mountaineering are usually done individually or offered by alpine guides and CAI. Finally, moto trial is usually practiced at lower altitudes in La Salle and Morgex but it was mentioned by only a few interviewees.

Additional activities are related to the enjoyment of nature, both forests and glaciers. Indeed, nature can be considered as a non-human actor of tourism, since it directly influences the attractiveness of the destination by providing essential ecological functions, as well as aesthetic, cultural and recreational ones. It is interesting to note how, among the interviewees, there was a strong tendency to personify the mountain and its characteristics.

"The Mont Blanc is a sacred mountain, it has its energy between crystals and fluorites. It attracts souls that want to evolve" (cultural tourism)

17

"I'm never alone, I'm surrounded by extraordinary mountains. Mountains talk to you when no one is around and you can hear their sounds" (alpine guide)

"Snow excites children, it's everyone's dream" (hotel)

"Glaciers are the smiles of mountains" (glaciologist)

This shows the importance that the interviewees attached to nature itself and, indeed, most of the activities mentioned above do rely on nature. For tourism specific to the Mont-Blanc massif, the Skyway is considered a key actor, as it offers the possibility of easy access to its glaciers to everyone. Moreover, relaxing activities such as spas were mentioned, with particular reference to the Pré-Saint-Didier QC Terme. Another type of attractiveness is Eno-gastronomic tourism and, in this sense, food producers and restaurants play a crucial role. Finally, tourism related to culture and castles is also considered as important in the area, although it does not have the same potential as other activities.

Other actors included in the tourism system are hotels, bars/restaurants and shops that deal directly with tourists visiting the area. Indeed, they form the hospitality sector of the destination and the periods in which they are kept open reflect tourism high periods. Moreover, the type of stores and bar can serve as an attraction and entertainment for tourists. These actors are multiple, usually family-run, and well distributed throughout the area at different altitudes. As an alternative to hotels, holiday houses that host regular tourists are extremely important especially for Italian tourists. Related to this hospitality infrastructure, are construction agencies and real estate agencies that determine the number and the type of hotels and houses.

In fact, some actors have a direct influence on the system, even if they are not strictly related to tourism. For instance, municipal, regional and national governments define the legal framework within which the system evolves. In particular, municipalities are responsible for building permits, transportation, road and service closures, track maintenance, communications, and other local services. Some of these responsibilities are shared with regional and interregional associations, such as ARPA and AINEVA, which carry out environmental assessments, particularly in relation to risks. At the municipal level, however, alpine guides, Forestry Corps and Fondazione Montagna Sicura play a crucial role in evaluating these regional assessments and helping the municipality decide which closures are necessary. In this regard, the role of journalists in communicating these risks and closures is essential to avoid alarmism and ensure clear communication. The municipality is also responsible for public transport, which is free in some valleys during certain seasons. These closures and transportation decisions then affect what activities can be done and where people can go. Another actor related to this accessibility is the Mont Blanc Tunnel, which regulates the flow between Italy and

France. In fact, neighboring countries such as France and Switzerland are also mentioned as relevant actors in the system because of their different approach to managing tourism, but also for the tourists themselves who visit the area. Similarly, nearby cities are considered crucial as most Italian tourists come from Milan and Turin. In this sense, visitors are obviously part of the tourism system, both national and international.

Finally, another important non-human actor is that of local identity. Local identity, as framed by the interviewees, revolves around traditions, attitudes and language, and it is reflected in their attachment to the place. Its role as a non-human actor is defined by the patterns and the pace of local life as well as the strong feeling of belonging and the difference it makes in the behaviors of local people. Indeed, all interviewees, independent of age, education or profession, were extremely attached to the feeling of home, to the well-being of living in such a place and to the natural environment around them. The majority of the interviewees would not live anywhere else in the world, and this is true both for older generations who have lived in the area all their lives and for younger generations who have tried to live in cities like Turin for their studies. However, there was a shared feeling that the local identity was being "sold" to attract urban people and to make the destination look as similar as possible to what urban people are used to. Identity loss can be observed in the gradual loss of traditions and of French as a language. Almost all interviewees commented on this phenomenon and on the desire of municipalities like Courmayeur to become "city" even in the type of stores present. The result is a lack of passion and the spread of a business and urban attitude among some locals. Indeed, the strong difference between the mountain mentality and the urban way of approaching the mountain, services and activities was highlighted by the interviewees.

"The mountain is stronger than the man. A mountaineer knows it and is used to not being able to do activities because there are bad conditions or to remain blocked somewhere waiting for the weather to be better. This is difficult to accept for urban people that can always do everything. The mountain has its times and rhythms" (municipality)

"If you were not born here, it is difficult for you to feel the syntony with the mountain" (alpine guide)

"Young people want to go to the mountains less and less, they want to go to the city [...] they wait for the weekend to go out like urban people do" (transportation)

"Tourism here is mostly Italian, and very Milanese (around 70%), and you offer them the same stores that they have in Milan? Why do you have to lose your identity to this level? Why should you do it in favor of those who come to visit?" (cultural tourism)

19

These quotes and the perceived loss of identity already show part of the relations in the system and, in particular, between the destination and the tourists from Milan and Turin. Indeed, the interviewees pointed out less integration and communication between locals and tourists compared to the past. Regarding the relations among the local population, there are different perspectives. On the one hand, the place is relatively small and people feel like they actually belong and know everyone that lives there. This translates to being considered as a person and not a number and being able to create connections with everyone. On the other hand, everyone is "living in its own world" and they seem to struggle to collaborate. This is also influenced by tourism seasons: when the tourists are away, local people can build their relations and network, however, most people take advantage of low seasons to relax or go on holiday. Moreover, this divide is extremely present with business owners who come from the city. All interviewees seemed to be aware of these conflicts and were happy to initiate discussions on this topic.

"Collaboration with local sectors has been a positive experience, but it really depends on the issue discussed" (environmental association)

"We should work together with other companies to create a common view. We should do it to preserve the environment we are in, which also means to preserve ourselves. But everyone works individually here" (transportation)

"Everyone lives in their own hotel and shop. There are few interactions between associations and there are no collaborations" (other sports)

Following this description of the system, the interviewees could be divided into macro-groups according to their role in the system (e.g. institutions, tourism operators specific to mountain environment, general tourism operators). However, most of the interviewees do not belong to one specific group and have multiple activities or live and work at different altitudes, making a clear classification difficult [see Appendix A]. In this sense, participants were not divided into specific groups, but their different roles were taken into account and linked to the corresponding quotes to better represent their contributions.

5.2 System ordering – RQ2

After having defined the current system, questions related to current adaptation and the future of the valley allowed me to understand how the process of ordering is proceeding. This section will therefore be divided into the four moments of translation, including the perceptions of different actors.

20

5.2.1 Problematization

This phase is characterized by how actors problematize climate change and what challenges or problems they identify. All interviewees agreed on the existence of climate change and focused on similar aspects of these changes, albeit to varying degrees. Indeed, the actors who work directly with the mountain (alpine guides, Forestry Corps and food producers) and environmental associations were focused in describing the changes observed through their work, while other actors relied more on their personal perceptions mostly related to visible changes and weather conditions. In general, climate change has been accepted and it is perceived as a reality that they are facing today and not as a future projection. Most interviewees mentioned that climate change is becoming more and more intense with increasing worries for safety.

Glaciers were mentioned by almost everyone not only for their visual loss, as in the case of the Brenva glacier [Figure 5], but also for their associated risks. Indeed, the interviewees that live or work under glaciers claim to hear the sounds of the melting ice and crevasses fractures. On this matter, there is also an art exhibition in the Skyway Museum with a room that plays the sounds of melting ice and collapsing glaciers. A special case is the Planpincieux glacier, which is closely monitored due to the risk of collapse. Safety concerns related to glaciers, permafrost thaw and rockfalls are common to almost all interviewees, but especially to those whose work is strictly related to the mountain environment.



Figure 5. Brenva Glacier 1897 - 2014

This picture taken from Riso (2019) shows the visual loss of the Brenva glacier on the Mont Blanc massif. The Glacier used to extend almost all the way to the valley and nowadays it only reaches the tree line limit and rocks divide its upper and lower part. Today it is still possible to observe where the glacier used to be in the past.

Another aspect of climate change mentioned is precipitation: all interviewees agree that there has been a decrease in the amount of snowfall, which was mostly derived from recalling activities they could do as children that are no longer possible, such as sledding down the street after school. An interesting fact mentioned by more than a third of interviewees is the succession of rain and snow, which leads to a general confusion between the different seasons as the climate becomes less reliable. Seasonal changes were also mentioned by interviewees who work closely with the mountains in terms of when certain activities can be done. In general, it has become more difficult to interpret mountain conditions, which are becoming less predictable leading to increased risks.

"It snows, then it's windy, then it's hot and it rains, then it's cold and it snows again and then you have sand coming: you don't understand what's happening anymore" (alpine guide)

The presence of wind was also mentioned by some interviewees as a new feature of the recent years. Temperature increases are also evident, particularly in relation to hotter summers, but also warmer winters. A common observation made by shop and bar owners is the lighter clothing needed and used by tourists during winter. While water appears to be abundant in the area, changes in water availability have been mentioned for La Salle municipality and for mountain hut high in the mountains where access to water is limited. Interviewees from institutions and food producers mentioned the potential for future water conflicts between different uses, also driven by a lack of responsible water use.

"People from the Aosta Valley live surrounded by water, but you don't realize its importance until it's gone" (food producer)

Finally, changes in flora and fauna were mentioned by specific actors that work with them on a daily basis like Forestry Corps, food producers and environmental associations.

While climate change is widely accepted, the human impact on the climate is questioned by a third of interviewees from surprisingly diverse backgrounds. Indeed, in the area there is a common narrative of alternating natural cycles and that humans do not have a strong impact on them. This leads to the belief that we are currently in a warm period but that colder periods will return as it is just part of a cycle that we cannot control. Some of the interviewees were more vocal than others in expressing this opinion, but it seems to be a widespread doubt. However, all interviewees notice some human impacts in terms of excessive construction and pollution, which can be easily observed in the natural environment in which they live. Indeed, such an impact is easier to associate with humans compared to increasing temperatures.

5.2.2 Interessement

All interviewees showed interest in dealing with the problem of climate change to varying degrees. In particular, some adaptation strategies were suggested and their relations in the system are presented below and summarized in Figure 6.



Figure 6. Tourism system and adaptation strategies

This figure summarizes the proposed adaptation strategies (grey boxes) and how they interact with the system defined in the previous sections. The arrows show the direction of influence and they represent both positive and negative effects. The colors are for visual purposes only and have no inherent meaning (Own illustration).

Deseasonalisation

One of the main suggested pathways is that of deseasonalisation. Indeed, the tourism system is highly seasonalized with consequences for the quality of services. An example of this is the municipality of Courmayeur that goes from 2,000 residents to 30,000 people during the peak season, which means that services like wastewater treatment, transport and parking are periodically put under pressure. This is especially true for cable cars and ski resorts given the extremely high number of people that you can already find on the slopes during the high seasons. These seasonal differences are partly due to weather conditions and national holidays, which cause people to leave at the same time and focus on weekend stays rather than taking a whole week off.

In the face of climate change, which will lead to more uncertainties, especially for snow, attracting tourists regardless of seasonal conditions is seen as a great opportunity. In addition, with climate change, the summer season is becoming longer and it is important to take advantage of the increased

window of good weather. The potential year-round attractiveness of the area is recognized by all interviewees, who agreed on the beauty that nature can offer in all seasons, even in off-peak periods.

"Autumn is extremely beautiful, it's really photogenic with its colors, the snow and long shadows" (hotel)

"May is wonderful with green grasslands that create a contrast with the mountain top still white" (alpine guide)

From this recognition follows a desire to share this beauty with tourists and to develop year-round tourism. However, there are conflicting views on how to approach the low season. These "dead" periods are seen as moments for residents to enjoy nature, connect with each other, and recover from an intense tourist season.

"Tourism denaturalizes us, but we have the luck of months where you can really enjoy life with no one around" (other sports)

Particularly, those interviewees who work directly in contact with tourists, such as bar and hotels, enjoy having moments of peace where they can rest. Interestingly, hotels and bars owners still had an interest in deseasonalisation, since they were complaining about reduced profits during the low season, but they are the first ones to work against such a shift by staying closed as soon as the peak season ends. Indeed, their interest still seems to be in maximizing the seasons that are already profitable, instead of starting to offer a service and motivate people to come all year round.

"It's ok to extend the tourism season, but you should first focus on filling the seasons that are already working in terms of restaurants and rentals" (bar)

"You can extend the touristic season, but then try to find an open bar or shop in October" (transportation)

"If you offer a service then it grows and you find other people willing to come. If everything is closed in May, you are not encouraged to visit. In July and August, they heavily milk the tourists and they lower the quality, then they say that in October is not profitable to stay open." (alpine guide)

This shows a partial Interessement in solving the problem of high seasonality, however, a lack of proactivity. Indeed, maximizing the tourism season will lead to more intense tourism with increasing social and environmental impacts. On the other hand, a more spread out tourism allows the destination to have less intense seasons, reducing the need for recovery. To justify their position, bar

and hotel owners mentioned that the mountain also needs to rest and enjoy these "dead" periods, but no opinion was given on how to deal with the impacts of mass tourism.

"The mountain lives its periods in which no one is around. Workers recover in those periods but so does the mountain" (bar)

An alternative suggested by a couple of interviewees was also to have a closed number of tourists and to aim for exclusivity rather than mass tourism, in order to reduce the overall impact of tourism on both the population and the environment.

Diversification

Another important aspect of adaptation of the tourism systems is diversification. All interviewees mentioned this concept as a necessity to attract tourists when snow is not a certainty. However, the alternatives proposed and the timescale of this Interessement did vary among the participants. The focus of all interviewees was on winter tourism, as skiing and snow-related activities will be most affected, and the proposed substitutes are mostly already present to a lesser extent. Biking and hiking (on snow or simply in nature) were frequently mentioned as strong alternatives for tourism, especially e-bikes, which are similar in physical effort to downhill skiing and therefore a good and accessible option. Mountaineering skiing is also mentioned as it can be easily transferred to higher altitudes where snow will still be present, along with glacier tourism and the Skyway cable car.

Other alternatives presented are feasible, but are unlikely to match the numbers that skiing brings in, and thus were not a top priority for the interviewees. An example promoted mainly by food producers and bar owners is food and wine, which already seems to attract international tourists to the area. The aim will be to also attract tourists with local traditions and to create a stronger picture of the locality, like the example of "Discover Morgex" event. This focus on local traditions would also be an important response to the loss of local identity and the "selling out" of municipalities to attract tourists. On the same line of thought, cultural tourism is presented as a valid option by a third of the interviewees, mainly from institutions and environmental associations. The focus should then be on the high number of castles in the region, as well as the potential for conferences and increasing opportunities to share scientific knowledge. Finally, another alternative is also related to QC Terme and well-being.

Most of the alternatives presented by the interviewees, although already present in the system, will strongly affect the functioning of the system, especially in the long term, if they become substitutes for skiing. Indeed, most of the interviewees who work directly with tourism took a long-term view of the problem. However, the timeframe used by municipalities and ski resorts is mainly for short-term adaptation rather than long-term system change. The options proposed by these actors are then snowmaking and shifting ski resorts at higher altitudes, while the potential of the alternatives presented above is dismissed. They tend to share a mentality of "we will deal with the problem when the problem arises" and therefore postpone such decisions. Concerns about water consumption were also raised, despite the fact that they are promoting snowmaking, which is extremely water-intensive, highlighting the contradictions of these actors:

"We need to change habits like the use of water. Here we have enough, but if we use it all there is none left downstream" (municipality)

"Removing skiing now it's impossible, but we shouldn't demonize it. Also the consumption of water for snowmaking are irrelevant compared to other factors" (municipality) (Rota, 2024)

Communication

For both deseasonalisation and diversification, interviewees from institutions mentioned the importance of communicating and educating both tourists and local people. This was particularly emphasized in contrast to the mentality of the French neighbors, who are more adventurous and better manage their destinations.

"We are as lucky as France in terms of environment and resources, but we have an Italian way of doing things" (shop)

"The French better understand the potential of things, they have a clearer idea of mountain business" (transportation)

It is also necessary to communicate with the local population about respecting the mountain instead of exploiting it to attract tourists and make money. This is also related to the way in which climate change is problematized, and it is a concept that has been highlighted by those who work with the mountain or with culture.

"The mountains are exploited without thinking about the future. They are not taken care of and they are being excessively exploited" (alpine guide)

"There are two categories of people: those that to this day still think that the mountains should be preserved and those that exploits them as much as possible" (cultural tourism)

"The only goal is making money, and in the valley you do so with tourism" (glaciologist)

Therefore, sensibilization is needed so that local people understand the importance of collaborating with nature and adapting to changes in weather and seasons. Such communication can be difficult, especially when the impacts are directly related to people's lives and businesses, but it is essential for local people to accept such changes and become agents of sustainable adaptation. In this shift of mentality, a concept that was considered important by the interviewees is the respect for the mountain and its dominance over man.

"We have to be careful. We need to respect the mountain's rules. We would like a mountain that adapts to us, but it's the other way around. There is no medicine for the mountain" (alpine guide)

"We need to change our awareness and learn how to cooperate with nature" (cultural tourism)

Likewise, tourists can change their attitudes towards the mountains with increased communication. This was suggested in response to the change in tourist mentality noted by more than a third of the interviewees who work closely with tourists. Indeed, current tourism is more linked to appearance rather than love for nature and the mountains and this is mostly a reflection of the changes happening in nearby cities like Milan and Turin.

"There are no longer the tourists of the past who love the mountains and seek contact with nature. Now tourism is a way of appearing and it's obsessive." (transport)

In addition to the goal of changing attitudes, communication should also involve accepting changes and differences in feasible activities. One of the problems most often raised by alpine guides is what to tell tourists, especially since they can no longer offer the same activities due to different conditions and safety concerns. Indeed, tourists should be aware of the increased risks without being alarmed, which was a point of particular concern for municipalities that do not want to scare away tourists. Indeed, mountain environments always carry risks which are now increasing due to climate change, and it is important that tourists understand such risks and how to deal with them. A common observation made by tourism operators, both in the mountain and in the hospitality sector, is that during the high season there is a lack of knowledge about how to approach the mountain and its risks. This increased after the COVID pandemic, when people were looking for tranquility in nature and many started to go to the mountains without precautions. As a result, the number of incidents has increased and more people are putting themselves in unnecessarily dangerous situations.

5.2.3 Enrollment and Mobilization

There seem to be many limitations in moving from actors Interessement of the problem to actual Enrolment and Mobilization. Indeed, as described in the current system, there is a problem of lack of coordination and cooperation, and while people are aware of this limitation, it seems that few solutions are actually proposed to help a division of roles. There is a lack of collaboration both between different actors and within the same organization, such as among alpine guides, who each go their own way and adapt separately. In fact, most of the proposed answers are seen from a very individual point of view, such as businesses expanding or changing their offer (e.g. Skyway moving from cable car to experience and museum), while the responsibility of managing substantial changes from a network point of view is left to "other" actors. These individual actions are good, but almost all interviewees mentioned that it is essential to act as a team to meet the challenges of climate change.

"We either become a system or we destroy each other. We need to team up" (environmental association)

In addition to this lack of teamwork, the central role of the municipalities hinders possible cooperation. When asked what the municipality is doing in terms of adaptation, several criticisms were raised about the lack of interest in alternatives. This is reflected in their short-term mentality and lack of initiative both for deseasonalisation and diversification. In fact, while municipalities allow individual actors to try new alternatives, more active engagement would be appreciated. This active engagement could take the form either of proposing new alternatives or of facilitating greater cooperation between the various actors. The interests are still to keep the system as it is and to get through the 5-year mandate, exploiting the geographical competitive advantages. On the other hand, the region seems to be more willing to promote other types of tourism such as cultural tourism.

"We need long-term planning in general. But it is a problem with the administrators that only think at the 5 years of their mandate" (environmental protection)

Some enrollment attempts have been done to promote collaborations, however, they were criticized for a lack of inclusiveness, mainly due to the choice of time and date, which made it impossible for most actors to participate. I would say that the system is currently in the enrollment phase, as most actors are interested, but clear roles have not yet been defined. As enrollment is missing, some actors are starting to act and individually adapt their businesses. This could be seen as a beginning of individual mobilization, while system mobilization is far from happening.

6 Discussion

From the findings it is clear how the tourism system is still in the ordering process, however, some conclusions can be drawn on the different perceptions of Interessement in the area. The proposed solutions are in line with the current adaptation strategy of the region, particularly, the focus on year-round tourism seems to be generally approved by the local population (VdA, 2021b). However, concerns regarding the benefits of "dead" periods have been raised mostly by hotels and bars. This interest is mainly driven by business choices of wanting to maximize the profits when tourists are present, and then enjoy some quietness or go on holidays, thus keeping an intensive tourism system. A focus on peak seasons merely to allow for slow periods afterwards increases the risk of maladaptation as it contributes to the negative impacts that mass tourism currently has. Indeed, it is crucial to consider the social and environmental impacts of mass tourism as it exists today (Barker, 1982; Gios et al., 2006). Mass tourism can heavily impact natural environment, which is not only needed as touristic attraction, but it provides ecological and social functions that should be preserved (Karim et al., 2023; Streimikiene et al., 2021). Moreover, mass tourism leads to higher pressure on the population and on existing services (Karim et al., 2023).

The need for diversification described in the strategy is also supported by the local population, with multiple alternatives being proposed (VdA, 2021b). However, municipalities and ski resorts still seem to push for ski-focused tourism and have a very short-term approach. This is similar to the SMART strategy, which still considers ski as the "star" product and could hinder possible diversification (VdA, 2021a). Yet again, this is a potential risk for maladaptation, as it shifts the attention away from long-term effects of climate change and focus on resource-intensive strategies, like snowmaking, that further contributes to impacts and conflict in the area (Maran et al., 2014; Mariani and Scalise, 2022). The lack of active involvement by municipalities in creating new alternatives can be a major step backwards, as a long-term approach and a proactive response to climate change are essential (Salim et al., 2021b; Salim et al., 2021c). While actors have the power to adapt individually, the central role of municipalities gives them the opportunity to support adaptation at the system level, for example by increasing safety and accessibility of alternatives (Cremonese et al., 2019).

The findings show an interest in better communication for both tourists and the local population, which is in line with the adaptation strategy (VdA, 2021b). In particular, it is interesting to point out the need for a different attitude and mentality towards the mountains, in order to ensure a greater cooperation and respect between human and nature. Indeed, the way in which climate change is problematized, including knowledge of its human causes, can play a crucial role in the behavior of the

29

local population (Adger et al., 2009). Adaptation is currently framed in terms of the economy, while the importance of the environment is only partially highlighted in the findings. This creates a dilemma of saving the economy or saving nature, and, while tourism is essential to local livelihoods, it is important for the network to fully understand such dynamics. Indeed, using a post-structuralism approach, adaptation should be considered as an internalized socio-natural process resulting from the coevolution of human values and the environment (Dujardin, 2020). This means rejecting the idea of climate change as an external problem to be controlled and managed (Dujardin, 2020). This dilemma was of particular concern to those actors who work closely with the mountains and culture, and who see the effects that a lack of respect and excessive exploitation by tourists can have on nature. By fighting for preservation, these actors enforce the agency of nature as a crucial non-human actor, and, compared to the position offered by hotels and bars, they aim to reduce mass tourism, thus limiting potential risks of maladaptation. To facilitate communication and to find a proper sustainable adaptation strategy, additional initiatives should be taken to improve cooperation and involvement of the local population (Hill et al., 2010). In fact, similar to other cases, the local population is small enough for people to form strong ties with each other, but the lack of a clear hierarchy and of cooperation networks makes it difficult for actors to work together (Wyss et al., 2014; Hill et al., 2010). These dynamics are also evident in the first research question, where the system relations are defined.

Finally, given the differences in adaptive capacity between tourists and destinations, communication with tourists will be necessary to ensure that they accept the changes that are occurring and do not further limit the adaptive capacity of the destination (Kaján and Saarinen, 2013). Indeed, given the changes in tourists' attitudes in recent years, it is important to share the need to respect the natural environment. A change in tourists' attitudes and mentality is therefore essential to avoid maladaptation, also in terms of preserving local identity. In this sense, focusing on communication and cooperation with nature are crucial steps in tourism adaptation (Matasci et al., 2014; Wyss et al., 2015; Salim et al., 2021b).

The diverse perceptions presented above are a clear example of multiplicity in the system and of the numerous ways in which translation processes can take place when the problem of climate change is presented to different actors (Deason et al., 2022; van der Duim et al., 2013). These differences highlight the need for collaboration between actors and the importance of including multiple perspectives. In fact, all actors' opinions are valid at the system level, and the interests for conflicting adaptation strategies are a crucial part of allowing multiple orderings of the system, even in cases that may lead to maladaptation (van der Duim et al., 2013).

30

6.1 Relevance for Sustainability Science

Sustainability science aims at solving complex problems deriving from socio-natural interactions using an interdisciplinary approach (Jerneck et al., 2011). This work contributes to sustainability science by expanding on the concept of climate change adaptation using a solution-oriented approach. Indeed, adaptation to climate change in mountain regions around the world will be a necessity given the high vulnerability of these environments (Hock et al., 2021). These environmental changes will heavily impact tourism, which is a crucial sector for the economic development and livelihood of alpine regions in Europe (Hock et al., 2021). The sustainability issue addressed in this thesis is adaptation of local livelihoods to climate change. This thesis then focuses on the interaction between climate change and tourism, highlighting the potential for maladaptation and the impacts of tourism on the environment and local identity. While some individual adaptation measures are already taking place, this study contributes by offering a system evaluation of the Western Italian Alps system. Through the use of ANT, the current tourism system is defined and the challenges in stabilizing it to climate change are highlighted. Moreover, the participatory approach of the study, carried out through the involvement of the local population, ensures the inclusion of multiple perspectives and different actors. In fact, the differences between the adaptation strategy and its perception are highlighted, offering points for reflection in order to strengthen the cooperation between actors.

6.2 Limitations

A number of limitations associated with the study were identified and will be presented in this section. A first point might be raised against the research design and theory used. One of the main criticisms of ANT is that it considers all actors on the same level (Alcadipani & Hassard, 2010; Kolli & Khajeheian, 2020). Indeed, while the type of actors and relations in a system represent some kind of power relations, ANT has a tendency of not representing other factors like positionality and pre-existing structures that can impact power relations (Kolli & Khajeheian, 2020). Other criticisms are raised in the application of the theory, in particular that it is difficult to really include non-human actors in the research and to have a critical perspective in the analysis of reality compared to its representations (Alcadipani & Hassard, 2010; Mwenya & Brown, 2017). In order to limit these risks in this thesis, I tried to allow for multiple realities to co-exist at the same time and allow for actors to critically describe their point of view. Moreover, non-human actors were considered for the current system, however, I could only rely on perceptions and descriptions made by human actors during interviews to enforce their agency. In this sense, the type of data collection can be seen as a limitation, in particular, while

the use of different data sources works well for qualitative studies, it can limit a fair representation of the actors involved.

Moreover, by focusing on a case study and on destination adaptation I was spatially limited in my selection of actors, from which followed the exclusion of tourist interviews. A qualitative analysis of a case study may still have potential for generalization in similar alpine tourism systems, however, cultural and social differences may play a crucial role in the adaptation potential of a different destination. This is also highlighted in the findings where differences with neighboring countries have been brought forward. Finally, time constraints and word count were a great limitation in the writing process and in the selection of methodology used. In this sense, also the number of interviews and data sources can be considered an important limitation in the representation of the system.

7 Conclusions

This thesis analyses how the current tourism system in the Mount Blanc area is adapting. By using ANT, it takes a system perspective and it includes different opinions and multiple perceptions of current and future adaptation to climate change. Moreover, the system is defined including also non-human actors like nature and local identity and the role that they play in this process.

It is clear that there is strong individual interest in adapting to this change through deseasonalisation, diversification and communication. However, hotels and bars still want to maximize already high periods and enjoy "dead" periods when no one is around. In this way, they are working against deseasonalisation and towards more intensive tourism, which may lead to maladaptation. On the other hand, when it comes to diversification, municipalities and ski resorts have a very short-term perspective, rejecting potential alternatives and focusing on resource-intensive strategies such as snowmaking, which will lead to increased conflict. These positions increase the risk of maladaptation because the environmental and human impacts are not thoroughly considered. Therefore, as expressed by the actors who work in close contact with the mountains and culture, it is necessary to communicate among the local people in order to re-evaluate the importance and respect towards the mountains and nature, and to determine which strategies are appropriate to preserve the local environment. In order to reach a sustainable adaptation, it will be crucial to ensure increased collaboration among actors so that enrollment and mobilization can be achieved at a system level and not only individually. Increased communication will also be needed with tourists so that they become more willing to accept such changes in activities and therefore relatively increase the adaptive capacity of the destination. Furthermore, changes in tourists' attitude will also be essential to ensure respect for the natural environment and local identity, and to help the destination adapt in the right direction.

Future studies may focus on different cases to account for cultural and regional differences, with the inclusion of tourist perspective and possibly more in-depth interviews to better understand the dynamics and the reasoning behind the results. Moreover, a focus on communication and collaboration for climate change and the impacts of tourism on these changes might be an interesting starting point for similar alpine regions.

33

8 References

- Adger, W. N., Dessai, S., Goulden, M., Hulme, M., Lorenzoni, I., Nelson, D. R., Naess, L. O., Wolf, J., & Wreford, A. (2009). Are there social limits to adaptation to climate change? *Climatic Change*, *93*(3), 335–354. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-008-9520-z</u>
- Alcadipani, R., & Hassard, J. (2010). Actor-Network Theory, organizations and critique: Towards a politics of organizing. *Organization*, *17*(4), 419–435. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1350508410364441</u>
- Alpine Convention. (2005). *PROTOCOL on the implementation of the Alpine Convention of 1991 in the field of tourism Tourism Protocol.*

https://www.alpconv.org/fileadmin/user_upload/Convention/EN/Protocol_Tourism_EN.pdf

Alpine Convention. (n.d.). Framework Convention.

https://www.alpconv.org/fileadmin/user_upload/Convention/EN/Framework_Convention_EN.pdf

Alvesson, M., & Sköldberg, K. (2018). *Reflexive methodology: New vistas for qualitative research* (Third edition). SAGE.

ARPA VdA. (2021). IMPATTI DEI CAMBIAMENTI CLIMATICI SUL REGIME IDROLOGICO DELLA VALLE D'AOSTA.

https://www.arpa.vda.it/images/stories/ARPA/news/2021/20211222_Impatti_cc_idrologico/Cambia menti_climatici_regime_idrologico_VdA_report2021.pdf

Bajni, G., Camera, C. A. S., & Apuani, T. (2021). Deciphering meteorological influencing factors for Alpine rockfalls: A case study in Aosta Valley. *Landslides*, *18*(10), 3279–3298.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10346-021-01697-3

- Barker, M. L. (1982). Traditional Landscape and Mass Tourism in the Alps. *Geographical Review*, 72(4), 395–415. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/214593</u>
- Baroni, C., Bondesan, A., Carturan, L., Chiarle, M., & Scotti, R. (2023). Annual glaciological survey of Italian glaciers (2022). *Geografia Fisica & Dinamica Quaternaria (Physical Geography and Quaternary Dynamics)*, 46(1), Article 1. <u>https://doi.org/10.4454/gfdq.v46.883</u>

- Bausch, T., & Gartner, W. C. (2020). Winter tourism in the European Alps: Is a new paradigm needed? Journal of Outdoor Recreation and Tourism, 31, 100297. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jort.2020.100297</u>
- Bausch, T., Humpe, A., & Gössling, S. (2019). Does Climate Change Influence Guest Loyalty at Alpine Winter Destinations? *Sustainability*, *11*(15), Article 15. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su11154233</u>
- Behringer, J., Buerki, R., & Fuhrer, J. (2000). Participatory integrated assessment of adaptation to climate change in Alpine tourism and mountain agriculture. *Adaptation to Climate Change*.
- Bollati, I. M., Masseroli, A., Mortara, G., Pelfini, M., & Trombino, L. (2019). Alpine gullies system evolution: Erosion drivers and control factors. Two examples from the western Italian Alps. *Geomorphology*, *327*, 248–263. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geomorph.2018.10.025</u>
- Callon, M. (1984). Some elements of a sociology of translation: Domestication of the scallops and the fishermen of St Brieuc Bay. *The Sociological Review*, *32*(S1), 196–233.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-954X.1984.tb00113.x

Calmanti, S., Motta, L., Turco, M., & Provenzale, A. (2007). Impact of climate variability on Alpine glaciers in northwestern Italy. *International Journal of Climatology*, *27*(15), 2041–2053.

https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.1500

- Cerutti, V. (1985). LE VARIAZIONI GLACIALI E CLIMATICHE DURANTE L'ULTIM O SECOLO NEI GRUPPI DEL MONTE BIANCO E DEL MONTE ROSA (*). *Geografia Fisica e Dinamica Quaternaria, 8,* 124–136.
- Chiarle, M., Geertsema, M., Mortara, G., & Clague, J. J. (2021). Relations between climate change and mass movement: Perspectives from the Canadian Cordillera and the European Alps. *GLOBAL AND PLANETARY CHANGE*, 202, 103499. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2021.103499</u>
- Clivaz, C., & Savioz, A. (2020). Glacier retreat and perception of climate change by local tourism stakeholders: The case of Chamonix-Mont-Blanc in the French Alps (A. M. Bryde, Trans.). *Via*. *Tourism Review*, *18*, Article 18. <u>https://doi.org/10.4000/viatourism.6097</u>
- Cocolas, N., Walters, G., & Ruhanen, L. (2016). Behavioural adaptation to climate change among winter alpine tourists: An analysis of tourist motivations and leisure substitutability. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 24(6), 846–865. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2015.1088860</u>

Courtial-Manent, L., Ravanel, L., Mugnier, J.-L., Deline, P., Lhosmot, A., Rabatel, A., Duvillard, P.-A., & Batoux, P. (2024). 18-years of high-Alpine rock wall monitoring using terrestrial laser scanning at the Tour Ronde east face, Mont-Blanc massif. *Environmental Research Letters*, *19*(3), 034037.

https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ad281d

- Cremonese, E., Carlson, B., Filippa, G., Pogliotti, P., Alvarez, I., Fosson, P., Ravanel, L., & Delestrade, A. (2019). *Rapport Climat—Cambiamenti climatici nell'area del Monte Bianco e impatti sulle attività umane*. https://www.espace-mont-blanc.com/asset/rapportclimat_ita.pdf
- Deason, G., Seekamp, E., & Barbieri, C. (2022). Actor-network theory and organizational resilience to climate change in community-based tourism. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation and Tourism, 38*, 100483. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jort.2021.100483</u>
- Dujardin, S. (2020). Planning with Climate Change? A Poststructuralist Approach to Climate Change Adaptation. *Annals of the American Association of Geographers*, *110*(4), 1059–1074. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/24694452.2019.1664888</u>
- Einhorn, B., Eckert, N., Chaix, C., Ravanel, L., Deline, P., Gardent, M., Boudières, V., Richard, D., Vengeon, J.-M., Giraud, G., & Schoeneich, P. (2015). Climate change and natural hazards in the Alps. *Journal of Alpine Research | Revue de Géographie Alpine*, *103–2*, Article 103–2.

https://doi.org/10.4000/rga.2878

- Espace Mont Blanc. (2008). *Studio dei bisogni Valdigne*. <u>https://observatoire.espace-mont-blanc.com/d/260/studio-dei-bisogni-valdigne.pdf</u>
- Espace Mont Blanc. (2013). *Une srategie d'avenir synthese*. <u>https://observatoire.espace-mont-blanc.com/d/100/une-strategie-davenir_synthese.pdf</u>
- Frasca, M., Vacha, D., Chicco, J., Troilo, F., & Bertolo, D. (2020). Landslide on glaciers: An example from Western Alps (Cogne - Italy). *Journal of Mountain Science*, 17(5), 1161–1171. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11629-019-5629-y</u>
- Garavaglia, V., Diolaiuti, G., Smiraglia, C., Pasquale, V., & Pelfini, M. (2012). Evaluating Tourist Perception of Environmental Changes as a Contribution to Managing Natural Resources in Glacierized Areas: A

Case Study of the Forni Glacier (Stelvio National Park, Italian Alps). *Environmental Management*, 50(6), 1125–1138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-012-9948-9</u>

Gios, G., Goio, I., Notaro, S., & Raffaelli, R. (2006). The value of natural resources for tourism: A case study of the Italian Alps. *International Journal of Tourism Research*, *8*(2), 77–85.

https://doi.org/10.1002/jtr.552

- Hill, M., Wallner, A., & Furtado, J. (2010). Reducing vulnerability to climate change in the Swiss Alps: A study of adaptive planning. *Climate Policy*, *10*(1), 70–86. <u>https://doi.org/10.3763/cpol.2008.0536</u>
- Hock, R., G. Rasul, C. Adler, B. Cáceres, S. Gruber, Y. Hirabayashi, M. Jackson, A. Kääb, S. Kang, S. Kutuzov,
 Al. Milner, U. Molau, S. Morin, B. Orlove, and H. Steltzer, 2019: High Mountain Areas. In: IPCC Special
 Report on the Ocean and Cryosphere in a Changing Climate [H.-O. Pörtner, D.C. Roberts, V. MassonDelmotte, P. Zhai, M. Tignor, E. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, A. Alegría, M. Nicolai, A. Okem, J.
 Petzold, B. Rama, N.M. Weyer (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY,
 USA, pp. 131–202. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009157964.004.
- IPCC Glossary Search. (n.d.). Retrieved May 9, 2024, from https://apps.ipcc.ch/glossary/searchlatest.php
- ISTAT. (2024). Popolazione residente al 1° gennaio: Tutti i comuni.

http://dati.istat.it/index.aspx?queryid=19101#

- Jerneck, A., Olsson, L., Ness, B., Anderberg, S., Baier, M., Clark, E., Hickler, T., Hornborg, A., Kronsell, A., Lövbrand, E., & Persson, J. (2011). Structuring sustainability science. *Sustainability Science*, *6*(1), 69– 82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-010-0117-x</u>
- Joly, M., & Ungureanu, E. I. (2018). Global warming and skiing: Analysis of the future of skiing in the Aosta valley. *Worldwide Hospitality and Tourism Themes*, *10*(2), 161–171. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/WHATT-12-2017-0077</u>
- Jurt, C., Burga, M. D., Vicuña, L., Huggel, C., & Orlove, B. (2015). Local perceptions in climate change debates: Insights from case studies in the Alps and the Andes. *Climatic Change*, 133(3), 511–523.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-015-1529-5

- Kaján, E., & Saarinen, J. (2013). Tourism, climate change and adaptation: A review. *Current Issues in Tourism*, *16*(2), 167–195. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13683500.2013.774323</u>
- Karim, R., Raza, W., Malik, A. J., & Nisa, M. U. (2023). Sustainable Mountain Tourism. In 2022. Mountain Studies: Understanding and Managing Mountains for People and Nature (1st ed., pp. 171–182).
 Karakoram International University.
- Kolli, S., & Khajeheian, D. (2020). How Actors of Social Networks Affect Differently on the Others?
 Addressing the Critique of Equal Importance on Actor-Network Theory by Use of Social Network
 Analysis. In I. Williams (Ed.), *Contemporary Applications of Actor Network Theory* (pp. 211–230).
 Springer Nature. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-7066-7_12
- Latour, B. (2005). *Reassembling the social: An introduction to actor-network-theory*. Oxford University Press.
- Maran, S., Volonterio, M., & Gaudard, L. (2014). Climate change impacts on hydropower in an alpine catchment. *Environmental Science & Policy*, *43*, 15–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2013.12.001</u>
- Mariani, G. M., & Scalise, D. (2022). Climate change and winter tourism: Evidence from Italy. *Questioni Di Economia e Finanza*, 743. <u>https://doi.org/10.32057/0.QEF.2022.0743</u>
- Martini, U., Buffa, F., & Notaro, S. (2017). Community Participation, Natural Resource Management and the Creation of Innovative Tourism Products: Evidence from Italian Networks of Reserves in the Alps. *Sustainability*, *9*(12), Article 12. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su9122314</u>
- Matasci, C., Kruse, S., Barawid, N., & Thalmann, P. (2014). Exploring barriers to climate change adaptation in the Swiss tourism sector. *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change*, *19*(8), 1239– 1254. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11027-013-9471-1</u>
- Morrison, C., & Pickering, C. M. (2013). Perceptions of climate change impacts, adaptation and limits to adaption in the Australian Alps: The ski-tourism industry and key stakeholders. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, *21*(2), 173–191. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2012.681789</u>

- Mourey, J., Perrin-Malterre, C., & Ravanel, L. (2020). Strategies used by French Alpine guides to adapt to the effects of climate change. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation and Tourism, 29*, 100278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jort.2020.100278
- Mwenya, J. K., & Brown, I. (2017). Actor-network theory in IS research: Critique on application of the principle of generalized symmetry. *Proceedings of the South African Institute of Computer Scientists and Information Technologists*, 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/3129416.3129448</u>
- Orusa, T., & Mondino, E. B. (2021). Exploring short-term climate change effects on rangelands and broadleaved forests by free satellite data in Aosta Valley (Northwest Italy). *Climate*, *9*(3). Scopus. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/cli9030047</u>
- Palomba, M., Giardino, M., Ratto, S., & Pogliotti, P. (2015). Analysis of Factors Controlling Landslide
 Susceptibility in the Aosta Valley (NW Italy): Relationship to Climatic and Environmental Changes. In
 G. Lollino, A. Manconi, J. Clague, W. Shan, & M. Chiarle (Eds.), *Engineering Geology for Society and Territory—Volume 1* (pp. 435–438). Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-09300-0_83</u>
- Pröbstl-Haider, U., Dabrowska, K., & Haider, W. (2016). Risk perception and preferences of mountain tourists in light of glacial retreat and permafrost degradation in the Austrian Alps. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation and Tourism*, 13, 66–78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jort.2016.02.002</u>
- Pröbstl-Haider, U., Haider, W., Wirth, V., & Beardmore, B. (2015). Will climate change increase the attractiveness of summer destinations in the European Alps? A survey of German tourists. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation and Tourism*, 11, 44–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jort.2015.07.003</u>
- Pütz, M., Gallati, D., Kytzia, S., Elsasser, H., Lardelli, C., Teich, M., Waltert, F., & Rixen, C. (2011). Winter Tourism, Climate Change, and Snowmaking in the Swiss Alps: Tourists' Attitudes and Regional Economic Impacts. *Mountain Research and Development*, *31*(4), 357–362.
 https://doi.org/10.1659/MRD-JOURNAL-D-11-00039.1
- Riso, M. (2019). *Rivista Ligure di Meteorologia 64—I GHIACCIAI DEL MONTE BIANCO (VERSANTE ITALIANO)* 1818—2014. <u>http://www.nimbus.it/liguria/rlm64/GhiacciaiMonteBianco.html</u>

Robbins, P. (2007). *Lawn people: How grasses, weeds, and chemicals make us who we are*. Temple university press.

Rota, R. (2024, January 19). *Passione Montagna: Sfida e opportuinità per le aziende*. <u>https://www.comune.courmayeur.ao.it/linea-diretta/novita/appuntamenti/convegno-passione-</u> <u>montagna-19-gennaio</u>

Sacco, F. (1934). Le alpi. Touring Club Italiano.

- Salim, E., Mabboux, L., Ravanel, L., Deline, P., & Gauchon, C. (2021c). A history of tourism at the Mer de Glace: Adaptations of glacier tourism to glacier fluctuations since 1741. *Journal of Mountain Science*, *18*(8), 1977–1994. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11629-021-6723-5</u>
- Salim, E., Mourey, J., Crépeau, A.-S., & Ravanel, L. (2023). Climbing the Alps in a warming world: Perspective of climate change impacts on high mountain areas influences alpinists' behavioural adaptations. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation and Tourism, 44*, 100662.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jort.2023.100662

Salim, E., Mourey, J., Ravanel, L., Picco, P., & Gauchon, C. (2019). Mountain guides facing the effects of climate change. What perceptions and adaptation strategies at the foot of Mont Blanc? *Journal of Alpine Research | Revue de Géographie Alpine*, *107–4*, Article 107–4.

https://doi.org/10.4000/rga.5865

- Salim, E., Ravanel, L., Bourdeau, P., & Deline, P. (2021b). Glacier tourism and climate change: Effects, adaptations, and perspectives in the Alps. *Regional Environmental Change*, *21*(4), 120. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-021-01849-0
- Salim, E., Ravanel, L., & Gauchon, C. (2021a). Aesthetic perceptions of the landscape of a shrinking glacier: Evidence from the Mont Blanc massif. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation and Tourism*, 35, 100411. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jort.2021.100411</u>
- Savi, S., Comiti, F., & Strecker, M. R. (2021). Pronounced increase in slope instability linked to global warming; a case study from the eastern European Alps. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*, 46(7), 1328–1347. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/esp.5100</u>

Simaraglia, C. (2006). Valle d'Aosta Figlia dei ghiacciai. Musumeci Editore.

Streimikiene, D., Svagzdiene, B., Jasinskas, E., & Simanavicius, A. (2021). Sustainable tourism development and competitiveness: The systematic literature review. *Sustainable Development, 29*(1), 259–271.

https://doi.org/10.1002/sd.2133

TMB. (n.d.). A cultural crossroads / Mont Blanc. https://www.tunnelmb.net/en-US/a-cultural-crossroads

Unité des Communes valdôtaines VALDIGNE-MONT-BLANC. (2015). STATUTO DELL'UNITÉ DES

COMMUNES VALDÔTAINES VALDIGNE-MONT-BLANC.

- UNWTO & UNEP (Eds.). (2008). *Climate Change and Tourism Responding to Global Challenges*. World Tourism Organization (UNWTO). <u>https://doi.org/10.18111/9789284412341</u>
- Vacchiano, G., & Motta, R. (2015). An improved species distribution model for Scots pine and downy oak under future climate change in the NW Italian Alps. *Annals of Forest Science*, 72(3), 321–334. Scopus. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13595-014-0439-4
- van der Duim, R., Ren, C., & Thór Jóhannesson, G. (2013). Ordering, materiality, and multiplicity: Enacting Actor–Network Theory in tourism. *Tourist Studies*, *13*(1), 3–20.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1468797613476397

- VdA. (1948). Legge costituzionale 26 febbraio 1948, n. 4 STATUTO SPECIALE PER LA VALLE D'AOSTA.
- VdA. (2014). Activities—Mont Blanc / Aosta Valley. <u>http://www.lovevda.it/en/out-and-about/tourist-areas/mont-blanc/activities</u>
- VdA. (2024). Flux Touristiques repartis par domaines Touristiques.
- VdA. (2023b). LA RIPRESA IN UN CONTESTO DI INCERTEZZA LE DINAMICHE DI ECONOMIA E SOCIETÀ VALDOSTANE.
- VdA. (2023c). Piano Energetico Ambientale regionale della Valle d'Aosta al 2030.
- VdA. (2021a). SMART SPECIALISATION STRATEGY S3 STRATEGIA DI SPECIALIZZAZIONE INTELLIGENTE DELLA REGIONE AUTONOMA VALLE D'AOSTA 2021-2027. https://imprese.regione.vda.it/Media/Sportelloimprese/Hierarchy/10/1055/S3_Vda_2021-2027%20(12).pdf

VdA. (2021b). Strategia di adattamento ai cambiamenti climatici 2021-2030.

https://svilupposostenibile.vda.it/Media/Svilupposostenibile/Hierarchy/6/694/Strategia%20di%20ad attamento%20ai%20cambiamenti%20climatici%20RAVA%202021-2030.pdf

VdA. (2023a). Tradizione | Valle d'Aosta. http://www.lovevda.it/it/cultura/tradizione

Whitaker, S. H. (2023). "The forests are dirty": Effects of climate and social change on landscape and wellbeing in the Italian Alps. *Emotion, Space and Society*, *49*, 100973.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emospa.2023.100973

Wikipedia. (2024). Valle d'Aosta. In Wikipedia.

https://it.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Valle_d%27Aosta&oldid=138593233

Woodward, K., Dixon, D. P., & Jones, J. P. (2009). Poststructuralism/Poststructuralist Geographies.

- Wyss, R., Abegg, B., & Luthe, T. (2014). Perceptions of climate change in a tourism governance context. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, *11*, 69–76. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmp.2014.04.004</u>
- Wyss, R., Luthe, T., & Abegg, B. (2015). Building resilience to climate change the role of cooperation in alpine tourism networks. *Local Environment*, *20*(8), 908–922.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13549839.2013.879289

Yin, R. K. (2009). *Case study research: Design and methods* (4th ed). Sage Publications.

9 Appendices

Appendix A – Participants

| Name | Description | Data collection |
|--|--|-----------------------|
| Courmayeur municipality | Biggest municipality in the area | A14, A19, A21, A22 |
| La Salle municipality | Lower altitude municipality | A13 |
| Fondazione Montagna Sicura | Study of mountain phenomena and problematics | A15 |
| ARPA Valle d'Aosta | Regional Environmental Protection Agency | A17 |
| Comitato Glaciologico Italiano | Italian Glaciological Committee | A01 |
| Società Guide Alpine Courmayeur | Local alpine guides society | A11, A20, A23 |
| Corpo Forestale Valle d'Aosta | Regional Forestry Corps | A02 |
| Courmayeur Mont Blanc Funivie | Ski resort company | Written communication |
| SkyWay | Mount Blanc cable car | On site visit, A09 |
| Forte di Bard and Castello di Saint-Pierre | Museums and castles | On site visit |
| Sant'Orso | Local craftmanship fair | On site visit |
| Shops and Rentals | - | A05, A12, A18 |
| Hotels | - | A12, A16 |
| Bars and Restaurants | - | A04, A05, A16, A19 |
| Food Producers | Mainly agriculture (wine) and bovine | A13, A05 |
| High altitude infrastructures | Mountain huts and others | A20, A09, A19, A16 |
| Transportation | Tunnel Mont Blanc and services | A06, A08 |
| Other sports | Trail running and others | A06, A07, A12, A22 |
| Journalist | - | A10 |
| Cultural Tourism | Festivals and other events | A03, A14, A12 |

Each interviewee has been assigned a code made of the letter A and a number of two digits. This is to identify anonymously the participants while showing their role in the system and how some of them are part of different businesses and associations.

Appendix B – Guiding questions

What does the Aosta Valley mean to you?

- Are there any places of particular value to you?
- What are the places that you feel most attached to?

What are the changes in terms of climate and environment that you have been observing?

- [experts] Based on your knowledge, what are the most evident process and phenomena? Can you explain how they are related to climate?
- In what ways are these changes impacting your lifestyle?
- Are there any precautions that you think you will have to take?

Did you notice any differences from an economic and working point of view?

- Activities that you can do in your business?
- What differences you observe in the system?
- How is tourism changing?
- [municipalities] how are these changes viewed by the municipality?

What are your priorities for adaptation?

- What the most important aspect to protect?
- What do you think of the future of the valley [experts in particular]
- Do you have any economic concerns about adaptation?
- How do you think the system is adapting? Is the mentality changing?
- [municipalities] what are the municipalities priorities and proposed solutions?
- What are your opinions on how the municipalities are dealing with these changes?

Is there anything you would want to add?

This image shows the guiding questions used throughout the interviewees. The questions were adapted based on the participants I was interviewing to better capture their perspective. In square brackets are some examples of how some questions were tailored to specific participants.